IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 79,728

BILLY JOE HODGES,

Respondent.

FILED
SID J. WHITE
MAY 22 1999
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By MU
Chief Deputy Clerk

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR #325791

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050
904/488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case subsumes and expands the holding in Anderson v. State, 16 F.L.W. D3024 (Fla. 1st DCA Dec 3, 1991), on rehearing, 17 F.L.W. D471 (Fla. 1st DCA Feb. 13, 1992) which is also pending review in this Court under case no. 79,535. Because of the broader holding in this case, it should become the lead case for Anderson and the numerous cases presenting the same general issue which will follow.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE **AND** FACTS

Appellant was convicted by a jury of robbery of a convenience store which occurred on 18 January 1991. R1-3, R20. The evidence at trial was the testimony of two clerk victims, TR21-49, and a policeman to whom appellant confessed. TR50-70. Appellant was known to both victims by name prior to the robbery and they separately identified him in photo lineups and in court. TR23-27, TR41-44, TR50-53, TR61-67. The jury was out approximately eight minutes before returning with a guilty verdict. TR111-112. The state filed notice of intent to seek habitual violent felony offender sentencing. R17. **At** the sentencing hearing on 7 May 1991 the state offered a presentence investigation report and certified copies of prior robbery convictions entered on 29 July 1988. TR118, R23-28. There were no exceptions or objections to the PSI and the appellant stipulated to the certified copy of the prior robbery convictions. TR118-119. The court asked appellant if he wished to offer argument on whether he should be classified as an habitual violent felony sentence, or mitigation, or any legal reason why the sentence should not be imposed. TR119. No legal reason was offered but appellant argued in mitigation that he was a drug addict. TR119-122. In aggravation, the state pointed out he had five prior felony convictions, that the two prior robberies were within two years of the present crimes, and one had been against the same convenience store robbed here. TR123. Without objection, the trial court adjudged him guilty and sentenced **as** an habitual violent felony offender to a thirty-year term with a ten-year

minimum mandatory. TR124-125, R29-35. The record does not show that any findings were made that the predicate felonies had been pardoned or set aside, nor does the record show that any objections or challenges were made to those predicate felonies. The trial court declared it was "satisfied he meets the criteria as an **hab** tual violent felony offender and, **as** I've indicated, I could not in good conscience find that he does not constitute a danger to the community. Consequently, he is further adjudged to be an habitual violent felony offender." TR125.

On appeal, petitioner challenged the constitutionality of section 775.084 and argued that the state had introduced no evidence showing, **and** the trial **court** had made no finding, that the predicate felonies had not been pardoned or set aside. The **district** court upheld the constitutionality of the statute but held that it was reversible error for the state to fail to make a showing, and the trial court a finding, that the predicate felonies had not been pardoned or set **aside**. For reader convenience, and because opposing counsel in both Anderson and here are the same, appendices with relevant documents from both cases which bear on the arguments here are attached. **The two** certified questions are:

DOES SECTION 775.084, FLORIDA STATUTES (1989), DENY EITHER DUE PROCESS OR EQUAL PROTECTION OF LAW UNDER EITHER THE FLORIDA OR THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION; OR VIOLATE THE DOCTRINE OF SEPARATION OF POWERS, AS SET FORTH IN THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

DOES THE HOLDING IN Eutsey v. State, 383 So.2d 219 (Fla. 1980), THAT THE STATE HAS NO BURDEN OF PROOF AS TO WHETHER THE CONVICTIONS NECESSARY FOR HABITUAL

FELONY OFFENDER SENTENCING HAVE BEEN PARDONED OR SET ASIDE, IN THAT THEY ARE "AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES AVAILABLE TO [A DEFENDANT]," Eutsey at 226, RELIEVE THE TRIAL COURT OF ITS STATUTORY OBLIGATION TO MAKE FINDINGS REGARDING THOSE FACTORS, IF THE DEFENDANT DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY RAISE, AS A DEFENSE, THAT THE QUALIFYING CONVICTIONS PROVIDED BY THE STATE HAVE BEEN PARDONED OR SET ASIDE?

Hodges v. State, 17 F.L.W. D787, D788 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). The state will not address the first certified question because the constitutionality of the statute was upheld.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The district court decision conflicts with this Court's decision in Eutsey and with decisions of other district courts and the district court below. Eutsey should be reaffirmed and the decision below reversed.

2. The decision below is contrary to the **settled** rules that the burden of proof for affirmative defenses falls on the defendant and that a trial court is not required to rule on unraised affirmative defenses.

3. The decision below is contrary to the rule that final convictions are presumed valid until a colorable challenge is raised.

4. The decision below is contrary to the rule that sentencing hearsay is presumed valid until its accuracy is brought into question.

5. The Eutsey certified question should be answered **yes** and the decision below reversed.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE:

SHOULD THIS COURT RATIFY THE DISTRICT COURT DECISION BELOW WHICH OVERRULES EUTSEY V. STATE, 383 SO.2D 219 (FLA. 1980) BY HOLDING THAT THE STATE HAS THE BURDEN OF PROOF FOR SHOWING, AND THE TRIAL COURT MUST FIND, THAT PREDICATE FELONIES NECESSARY FOR HABITUAL FELON SENTENCES HAVE NOT BEEN PARDONED OR SET ASIDE?

Because the case here expands on the holding in Anderson, case no. 79,535, pending review, where the district court certified the same question **as** here, it is necessary to examine the holdings and relationship of Anderson and the case here.

Anderson argued in the district court that the state failed to introduce evidence showing, and the trial court failed to find, that the predicate felonies for the habitual offender sentence had not been pardoned or set aside. This issue had not been raised at trial. The state relied on this Court's holding in Eutsey that these were affirmative defenses which had to be raised and proven by the defendant, rather than the state, and pointed out that Anderson had conceded three predicate felonies at trial, that he had not challenged either the presentence investigation report or the sentencing guidelines scoresheet, and had stipulated that he was the person in the two certified predicate judgments admitted in evidence. Nevertheless, without acknowledgement or reference to Eutsey, the district court held in relevant part:

The trial court's failure to make the findings required by section 775.084 (1)(a

is, however, reversible error, even in the absence of objection. Rolle v. State, 16 F.L.W. D2558 (Fla. 4th DCA October 2, 1991), citing Parker v. State, 462 So.2d 747 (Fla. 1989) and Walker v. State, 462 So.2d 452 (Fla. 1985). Anderson's sentence must therefore be reversed. We note that, on remand for resentencing, the trial court may resentence Anderson as an habitual offender, if the requisite statutory findings are made by the court and supported by the evidence. (e.s.) Cites omitted.

Anderson, 16 F.L.W. at 3024.

By petition for rehearing, the state argued that the district court had overlooked entirely the state's reliance on Eutsey which had interpreted and glossed the statute to place the requirement for raising the affirmative defenses on the defendant. On petition for rehearing the district court wrote to explain its decision and to certify a question of great public importance. The explanatory opinion acknowledged that Eutsey placed the burden of proof on the defendant, not the state, but concluded that the trial court was nevertheless required to make the findings even if no evidence was introduced and no objections were entered. (The Anderson documents **are** in appendix A.)

Three significant points about Anderson require comment. First, the case law cited in support is factually inapposite. Rolle, without setting out the facts of the case or even the year of the statute at issue, simply holds that the trial court failed to make unspecified statutorily required findings and then cites Parker and Walker in support. The latter two cases address the failure of a trial court to make the formerly mandatory finding that protection of the public required imposition of habitual felon sentencing. That requirement, which clearly was not an

affirmative defense, was deleted from section 775.084 in 1988. The cited cases lend no support to the proposition that a trial court must rule on the unraised affirmative defenses at issue here. Second, because, in good faith, we must assume that the district court considered that its holding was not in conflict with the Eutsey holding that the burden of proof was on the defendant, it had to believe that requiring the trial court to make factual findings was consistent with neither party introducing evidence to support the findings. That conclusion is simply illogical, as Hodges subsequently held. Third, again in good faith, the district court's statutory interpretation of section 775.084 had to be based on a conclusion that Eutsey was not grounded on a statutory interpretation by this Court that section 775.084(1)(a)3 & 4 created affirmative defenses which had to be raised by the defendant and which were waived when not raised. By not recognizing that it **was** simply reploughing ground already authoratively covered in Eutsey, the district court created direct and express conflict with a controlling decision of this Court.

The decision in Hodges removes any doubt about direct and express conflict with Eutsey by (logically) interpreting Anderson as requiring the state, not the defendant, to assume the burden of proof on whether predicate felonies had been pardoned or set aside:

"A corollary of the holding in Anderson, although not discussed, would appear to be that the burden rests upon the state to present evidence sufficient to enable the trial court to make such findings."

Contrast, Eutsey:

We also reject his contention that the State failed to prove that he had not been pardoned of the previous offense or that it had not been set aside in a post-conviction proceeding since these are affirmative defenses available to Eutsey rather than matters required to be proved by the State. Eutsey, 383 So.2d at 226.

(The Hodges decision is in appendix B.)

As will be seen below, Anderson and Hodges not only conflict with this Court's case law, they also conflict with case law from other districts and from the first district itself. It was helpful for the Hodges panel to explicitly recognize the corollary holding of Anderson which placed the court in direct and express conflict with Eutsey. These separate actions of the two panels placed the district court in direct and express conflict with Eutsey. It would have been even more helpful for this Court, for the district court itself, and all the parties who appear before it in these habitual felon cases, had the panel followed the sound advice of In Re Rule 9.331, Determination of Causes by a District Court of Appeal En Banc, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 416 So.2d 1127, 1128 (Fla. 1982):

We have full confidence that the district court of appeal judges, with a full understanding of our new appellate structural scheme, will endeavor to carry out their responsibility to make law consistent within their district in accordance with that intent. We would expect that, in most instances, a three-judge panel confronted with precedent with which it disagrees will suggest an en banc hearing. As an alternative, the district court panel could, of course, certify the issue to this Court for resolution. Consistency of law within a district is essential to avoid unnecessary and costly litigation.

Id.

The state suggests that intracourt resolution is far preferable to sending the parties off to the state's highest court with a certified question, particularly when, as here, there is also intracourt and intercourt conflict and the certified question has been undercut by the corollary holding. In Re Rule and Article V, section 3(b) of the Florida Constitution do not contemplate that this Court's limited jurisdiction, as with certified questions, will be a device to resolve intradistrict conflict or to otherwise substitute for district court en banc procedures.

The Anderson/Hodges holdings are not only inconsistent with the explicit holding of Eutsey that the statutory burden of proof is on the defendant to show that the predicate felonies have been pardoned or set aside. They are also contrary to the entire rationale of Eutsey in upholding the constitutionality of the statute. The Court in Eutsey addressed the broader question of whether the full panoply of due process rights required in the guilt phase was also required in the sentencing phase, i.e., was the state required to affirmatively prove all information used in the sentencing process beyond a reasonable doubt? The Court held it was not. One of the specific issues was whether the state could rely on presentence investigation reports and other hearsay in showing that the defendant should be sentenced as a habitual offender. The Court held that it could and that the burden was on the defendant to come forth with specific challenges to the accuracy of hearsay and to introduce evidence and witnesses as appropriate. This principle is well-settled in case law, including cases from the 1st DCA below. See, Myers v. State, 499

So.2d 895, 897(Fla. 1st DCA 1987) (Defendant is required to dispute truth of sentencing hearsay and, relying on Eutsey, in the absence of such dispute, "the trial court was not required to order the state to produce corroborating evidence."); Wright v. State, 476 So.2d 325, 327 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) ("Where, **as** here, the defendant does not dispute the truth of the listed convictions, the state is not required to come forward with corroborating evidence. Eutsey v. State, 383 So.2d 219 (Fla. 1980); McClain v. State, 356 So.2d 1256 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978)").

It should also be noted that Eutsey was decided in 1980. Despite the numerous changes to the statute over the years, **as** Hodges acknowledged, none have changed the relevant provisions which Eutsey interpreted. Thus, the subsequent legislative amendments and reenactments are presumed to approve Eutsey. See, Burdick v. State, 17 F.L.W. S88, S89 (Fla. February 6, 1992) ("It is a well-established rule of statutory construction that when a statute is reenacted, the judicial construction previously placed on the statute is presumed to have been adopted in the reenactment.")

The above shows beyond all doubt that Anderson and Hodges were wrongly decided. However, there are still other flaws and fallacies which deserve attention.¹ One of the characteristics

¹ Hoffman v. Jones, 280 So.2d 431, 434 (Fla. 1973) holds that "District Courts of Appeal . . . are free to certify questions of great public interest to this Court for consideration and even to state their reasons for advocating change" but "[t]hey are bound to follow the case law set forth by this Court." Because the posture of the parties in this case is upside down, the petitioner/state is in the unusual position of urging this Court to uphold its own case law against a contrary district court decision without first hearing why this Court should recede from

of affirmative defenses is that they represent exceptions to the norm, i.e., they represent a minority occurrence. For example, the overwhelming majority of homicides are not justifiable as self defense. Several propositions flow from this characteristic. Affirmative defenses are rarely at issue, so that evidence showing their absence would be irrelevant in the overwhelming majority of cases. Burdening the trial with irrelevant evidence would serve no useful purpose, needlessly expand the length and cost of trial, and tend to confuse the proceedings, even to the extent of causing reversible error. The only party who can claim an affirmative defense is the defendant. It would be improper, probably reversible error, if the state made the absence of self defense a feature of a trial when self defense was not claimed by the defendant. Moreover, the party in the position to bring forth evidence on affirmative defenses is the defendant. That was, in fact, one of the major points at issue in Eutsey. Who has the burden of proving that a predicate conviction has been pardoned or overturned by post-conviction proceedings? Eutsey contended that the trial court's finding that no pardon or post-conviction reversal had been entered was not supported by the record and that the state had the burden of proof. This Court rejected this argument by holding that the defendant had the burden of raising and proving these affirmative defenses, Eutsey clearly stands for the proposition that introduction of certified copies of judgments or PSIs satisfy the

its own case law. Thus, the state's initial brief is perhaps longer than it might otherwise be if it were answering arguments for receding from settled law.

preponderance of evidence test set out in **the** statute. This holding was consistent with settled law which, happily, is itself based on a common sense understanding of what is involved in proving or disproving affirmative defenses.

The common sense aspects are obvious if one thinks through the pardon and post-conviction processes. Pardons are granted by the Governor and Cabinet sitting as the Executive Clemency Board. See art. IV, §8, Fla. Const.; Ch. 940, Fla. Stat. To understate the matter, pardons are very rare. During the period 1989-1991 only 100 pardons were granted, an average of **33 per year.**² Again severely understating the matter, if we assume that there are only 10,000 felony convictions a year, and that all **33** pardons are for felony convictions, the annual percentage of pardons to felonies would be less than one-third of one percent. Raise the hypothetical 10,000 felonies to a realistic figure and it can be fairly said that the likelihood that a given defendant has

² This information was extracted from the public records of the Board of Executive Clemency by the person responsible for maintaining those records. It is contained in a letter and attachment from the Coordinator of that office which is included here **as** appendix C. The figures confirm what common sense suggests, pardons **as** a percentage of felony convictions are extremely rare, very nearly non-existent. The state asks the Court to take judicial notice of this public record information pursuant to section 90.202(12) and 90.203(1), Florida Statutes. (A separate motion has also been filed). In this connection, note the holding in Eutsey that hearsay information may be considered by the courts in determining sentences, **as** in PSIs, unless their accuracy is challenged and refuted. This is particularly apt here because the Court is addressing sentencing issues which were not raised in the trial court. Should the Court decline to consider the figures in this paragraph, the entire paragraph can be struck without impact on the state's argument. The figures illustrating the statistical insignificance of pardons merely serve to put this pseudo issue in factual context.

received a pardon for a predicate felony is so unlikely **as** to be pragmatically nonexistent.

This pragmatic nonexistence decreases even further by factoring in the criteria for obtaining pardons set out in the Rules of Executive Clemency of Florida. A comparison of the eligibility requirements for applying for a pardon under the Rules³ and the eligibility requirements for an habitual offender under section 775.084 is very instructive. Section 5.A of the current Rules provides:

A person may not apply for a pardon unless he or she has completed all sentences imposed and all conditions of supervision have expired or been completed, including but not limited to parole, probation, community control, control release, and conditional release for at least 10 years. (e.s.)

Section 775.084(1)(a)2 provides:

2. The felony for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed within 5 years of the date of the conviction of the last prior felony or other qualified offense of which he was convicted, or within 5 years of the defendant's release, on parole or otherwise, from a prison sentence or other commitment imposed as a result of a prior conviction for a felony or other qualified offense, whichever is later: (e.s.)

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