SID J. WHITE IUL 6 L 1992 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By **Chief Deputy Clerk** 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 79,728

BILLY JOE HODGES,

Respondent.

# RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CAROL ANN TURNER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT FLA. BAR NO. 243663

###

### ISSUE I

WHETHER SECTION 775.084, FLORIDA STATUTES (1989), DENIES DUE PROCESS OR EQUAL PROTECTION OF LAW UNDER THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION OR THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION; OR VIOLATES THE DOCTRINE OF SEPARATION OF POWERS, **AS SET FORTH IN THE** FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

This cause is before the Court for answers to two certified questions, the first of which requests a decision on the constitutionality of section **775.084**, Florida Statutes (1989). That section creates two classes of offenders--habitual felony offenders and habitual violent felony offenders--and allows for substantial increases in criminal penalties for offenders designated **as** members of those classes. **As** written, it serves a rational purpose of the state. In its operation, however, the habitual offender statute is applied to four sub-classes: qualifying habitual felony offenders who are black: qualifying habitual felony offenders who are white or **"other";** qualifying violent habitual felony offenders who are black; and qualifying violent habitual felony offenders who are white or "other."

The statute is applied in an arbitrary and capricious manner which discriminates against blacks, contrary to the Equal Protection clause of the Constitution of the State of Florida, and the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. This Court must strictly scrutinize the statute as applied in Florida. Having done so, it will come to

-4-

the inevitable conclusion that the statute, as applied, cannot stand constitutional muster, but must fall.

It is settled that prosecutorial discretion as to whom to prosecute is broad <u>United States v. Goodwin</u>, 457 U.S. 368, 380, n.11 (1982). It is not unfettered, but is subject to constitutional constraints <u>Wayte v. United States</u>, 470 U.S. 598, 508 (1985), quoting <u>United States v. Batchelder</u>, 442 U.S. 114, 125 (1979). And, though federal standards of review seem fluid, changing from term to term,<sup>1</sup> it would appear that appellant's assertion that he has been denied equal protection of the laws must pass a two-prong test. He must demonstrate (1) that he is a member of an identifiable group that is a recognizable, distinct class, and (2) that, as such, he has been singled out for different treatment under the laws, as written or as applied. <u>Casteneda v. Partida</u>, 430 U.S. 482, 494 (1977).2

At the time of his arrest in Jacksonville, Hodges was far more likely to be incarcerated for his crime than an unemployed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>See, Gunther, Foreword: In Search of Evolving Doctrine on a Changing Court: A Model for a Newer Equal Protection, 86 Harvard Law Review 1 (1972).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>This court is not bound by federal standards of review, but may view those standards as the "uniform minimum, the highest common denominator of freedom that can prudently be administered throughout all fifty states," but may instead look to our own state constitution, "and construe each provision freely in order to achieve the primary goal of individual freedom and autonomy." <u>Traylor v. State</u>, 17 FLW \$42, 43 (January 16, 1992).

white **male**;<sup>3</sup> and, since members of the black race comprised 73.6 percentum of all habitual felony offenders sentenced between July 1, 1990 and June 30, 1991, far more likely to receive habitual offender enhancement than a similarly situated member of any other **race**.<sup>4</sup> Further, since Duval County designated a higher percentage of offenders **as** habitual felony offenders than any other county in the State of Florida, accounting for 12 percentum of the total habitual felony offenders incarcerated in calendar year 1991, Hodges was more likely to be sentenced as an habitual offender than offenders in any other Florida county for which figures are available.5 And, since 88 percentum of violent habitual felony offenders sentenced in **Duval** County are black, while 77 percentum of all violent felony offenders are black, he was more likely, solely because he is black, to be sentenced there as an habitual violent felony offender.6

Finally, since Hodges was sentenced in the State of Florida, he was very likely to be sentenced by a white judge, since 94.5 percentum of all judges in Florida are white. And,

<sup>6</sup>Also, <u>see</u> Chiricos/Bales Study, App. 1, <u>supra</u>, **p.** 718.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>See, Appendix 1, Chiricos and Bales, <u>Unemployment and</u> <u>Punishment: An Empirical Assessment</u>, 29 Criminology 701 (1991), pp. 716-717, Table 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>See, Appendix 2, Cover letter from Florida Department of Corrections dated June 15, 1992, with accompanying data.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>See, Appendix 3, Cover letter from Florida Department of Corrections dated June 15, 1992, with accompanying data.

**as** Hodges was sentenced in the northern region of Florida, where less than one percentum of all judges are members of a minority race, he was overwhelmingly likely to be sentenced by a white judge.7

Hodges was sentenced **as** a violent habitual felony offender to 30 years of incarceration, with a 10-year minimum mandatory term, instead of a guidelines recommended sentence in the 5-1/2 to 9-year permitted range [see Scoresheet, R-41.1 He has been denied due process and the equal protection of the law.

Before inception of the sentencing guidelines in 1983, statutory maximums and the review of sentences by a parole commission provided some uniformity of actual incarcerated time served among those convicted of similar crimes. The drafters of the guidelines then attempted to provide for similar sentences for those similarly situated, in exchange for the loss of the opportunity for parole.

Florida's earlier habitual offender statute provided for sentences outside the statutory maximums, but not outside the guidelines, unless other reasons for departure existed. And, arising contemporaneously with the sentencing guidelines were

<sup>&#</sup>x27;See, Appendix 4, Report and Recommendations of the Florida Supreme Court Racial and Ethnic Bias Study Commission, December 11, 1990, pp. 13-15. This report was unable to provide accurate figures of minority lawyers practicing in Florida, but it is clear there are no elected state attorneys who are members of a minority.

new forms of gain time, which were applied uniformly to most inmates serving guideline sentences.

In 1987, this Court held in <u>Whitehead v. State</u>, 498 So.2d 863, 865 (Fla. 1986), that section **775.084** "cannot be considered **as** providing an exemption for a guidelines sentence." Thereafter, the Florida Legislature amended section **775.084** once again, to provide that sentences imposed thereunder were not subject to the guidelines and to remove the requirement that a trial judge determine that an enhanced sentence was necessary to protect the public. [Chapter 88-131, Laws of Florida].

These changes in the statute effectively eliminated the statutory mandate for uniformity in sentencing and actual incarcerated time served. The low-threshold requirements make the statute applicable to a substantial number, if not a solid majority, of those persons sentenced to prison in the State of Florida. Yet, of the tens of thousands who are eligible for sentencing under this statute, only those chosen by a prosecutor in an arbitrary manner, and those then designated by a judge in an equally arbitrary manner, are actually sentenced under its provisions. Others who commit the same offense under the same circumstances and with the same prior records will escape the operation of the statute, for no <u>expressible</u> reasons.

Recent studies have shown that it is not fortune which exempts some. Instead, it is race. The Interim Project report

-8-

of the House Committee on Criminal Justice, November 6, 1991, has noted:

Finally, there is the inference that these habitual offender statutes are being applied in a racially discriminatory manner. In the past two fiscal years, FY 1990-91, 2,2026 and 2,730 habitual manner. offenders were admitted to Florida's prison system. These two figures represent 4.7% and 7.5% of all persons admitted to prison in those years. Yet of the number going to prison, **black** offenders made **up 78.4%** and 73.6% habitualized inmates in those years. Unlike guidelines sentences, which are race and gender neutral, habitual offender sentencing depends upon the decision to invoke the enhanced sentence at two, independent points. The first occurs when the state attorney chooses whether to give notice that it will seek an enhanced sentence, while the second occurs when the judge decides whether to impose the enhanced sentence. At each of these points non-judicially related racial biases could intervene to direct more black defendants into enhanced sentences than white defendants, whether conscious or not. 71, footnotes omitted.]8 [p,

Theodore G. Chiricos and William D. Bales have published a study [hereafter "Chiricos/Bales Study"] in which they concluded that unemployed black males are 5.0 times more likely to be sentenced to incarceration than unemployed white males,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>See, Appendix 5, Interim Project, House Committee on Criminal Justice, <u>Habitual Offender and Minimum Mandatory</u> <u>Sentencing in Florida: A Focus on Sentencing Practices and</u> <u>Recommendations for Legislative Reform</u>, November 6, 1991.

and unemployed young black males are 6.0 times more likely to be sentenced to incarceration than unemployed white males.<sup>9</sup>

Indisputably, blacks are more likely to be unemployed than whites particularly young black men. The latest available figures from the Federal Bureau of Labor Statistics for the State of Florida are those for 1990, which demonstrate that while unemployment for white men was 4.7 percentum, unemployment for black men was 11.8 percentum. And, while unemployment for white men 20-24 years of age was 6.2 percentum, the rate for black males in that age group was 16.0, nearly three times that of whites.<sup>10</sup>

If there are nearly three times as many unemployed young black men as unemployed young white men, and unemployed young black men are 6.0 times more likely to be incarcerated for offenses than young white men, it must follow that a higher percentage of **black** men will make up the base group from which habitual felony offenders are selected.

If the habitual offender statute is being applied objectively, in a race neutral manner, and unemployed black men are more likely to be incarcerated, using the Chiricos/Bales

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>See, Appendix 1, Chiricos and Bales, **pp.** 716-721. Chiricos and Bales also have established a correlation between race, employment and types of crimes. See, **p.** 718.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>See, Appendix 6, Employment Status of the Civilian Noninstitutional Population by **sex**, age, race, Hispanic origin, and marital status: Detailed Characteristics--1990 Annual Averages--Florida, compiled by the U.S. Department of Labor, BLS, Current Population Survey, 1990.

Study figures, there should be at least between 5.0 percentum and 6.8 percentum more **blacks** than white sentenced **as** habitual felony offenders. Figures from the Department of Corrections reveal, however, that in calendar year 1991, the total of persons incarcerated in Florida comprised 59.3 percentum black, and **40.6** percentum white; while the total of persons treated as habitual felony offenders (including violent felony offenders) was comprised of **74.5** percentum black, and **25.4** percentum white. Thus, racial bias against blacks is evident state-wide in the selection and sentencing of habitual felony offenders.

Further, Hodges has been denied due process and equal protection of the law under both the Florida Constitution and the United States Constitution **because** of the harsher, disparate treatment of black offenders in Duval County, Florida, as opposed to treatment provided black offenders and white offenders in other counties of Florida. Duval County had a total population in 1990 of 672,971 persons, while Dade County, Florida had a total population of 1,937,094.<sup>12</sup> Yet, judges in Jacksonville have accounted for 12 percentum of the total habitual offenders, while Dade County only accounts for 6

<sup>11&</sup>lt;u>See</u>, Appendix 2, Data from Department of Corrections.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>See, Appendix 7, Florida Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis" <u>Population by Age, Race, Sex and Housing:</u> <u>State of Florida, Counties and Selected Municipalities from the</u> 1990 Census of Population and Housing, January 1992.

percentum. Unless Jacksonville can prove both that it has a bigger crime problem than Miami and that the problem is nearly exclusively caused by black offenders, then the sentencing regime in force there is fundamentally flawed.

The figures lead to the ineluctable conclusion that racial bias infuses the application of the statute, resulting in inevitable denial of equal protection of the law. "(T)hepractical effect of the official breach of law is the same **as** though the discrimination were incorporated in and proclaimed by the statute." Snowden **v**. Hughes, 321 U.S. 1, 9 (1944).

Appellant has met the two-pronged federal test and demonstrated denial of equal protection of the law, not only to him, but to similarly situated members of the black race. He has provided evidence herein that persons similarly situated have not been prosecuted, and he has shown that the decisions were made on the basis of an unjustifiable standard, <u>i.e.</u>, race. <u>See</u>, <u>generally</u>, <u>Wayte v. United States</u>, **470** U.S. 598 (1985); <u>United States v. Goodwin</u>, 457 U.S. 368 (1982); <u>Oyler v.</u> <u>Boles</u>, 368 U.S. **448** (1962); and <u>Yick Wo v. Hopkins</u>, **118 U.S. 356** (1886).

The very nature of the statute, which does not require any demonstration or articulation of race-neutral [or other status-neutral] reason for a prosecutor to seek enhancement against one person **as** opposed to another, results in an inevitable denial of due process. There are no standards; there is <u>no possibility of review</u>. Due process of law is not only violated; it is not provided.

-12-

Further, the habitual offender statute, as applied, violates the principle of separation of powers, removing from the judiciary its sentencing power, or discretion in sentencing. Once the prosecutor determined--under whatever nonreviewable standards employed (if, indeed, standards even exist)--to seek habitual violent offender status for Hodges, the trial court's sentencing discretion was usurped, and the court must then impose a minimum mandatory sentence.

The power to fix maximum and minimum punishments properly rests with the legislature. <u>Lightbourne v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 380, 385 (Fla. 1983). That power does not extend, however, to fixing specific, required penalties for commission of any felony by repeat offenders, then granting to the executive branch the power to select some offenders, but not others, to receive this penalty.

Unlike mandatory penalties fixed for capital crimes and those involving firearms, where the application of the required penalties is uniform, the habitual offender statute permits the executive branch to determine who shall and shall not receive enhanced penalties. As applied, then, the statute offends the principle of separation of powers, and infringes on the judicial power established in Article V, section 1 of the Florida Constitution.

In summary, section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1989) violates the Equal Protection Clause of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and section 2, Article I of the Constitution of the State of

-13-

Florida because it creates irrational classifications and removes the levelling influence of the sentencing guidelines and parole eligibility from certain defendants; it violates the Equal Protection Clause of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and Article I, Section 2 of the Constitution of the State of Florida because of the prevalence of racial discrimination in its administration; it violates constitutional guarantees of due process because the means selected to achieve its purpose--and the tremendous disparities in sentences it produces--are unreasonable, arbitrary, and capricious; it eliminates any notion of due process because the means selected to achieve its purpose are inarticulable, and not subject to review; and, it violates the constitutional principle of separation of powers by taking from courts their inherent authority to fix punishments within the parameters established by the legislature, and granting that authority to prosecutors without providing a means of review, contrary to the provisions of Article V, section 1 of the Constitution of the State of Florida. For these reasons, the Florida habitual felony statute is unconstitutional, and should be stricken by this Court.

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